Hull Museum Education



Local Heroes: Hull’s Trawlermen 

Filmed Interviews – An Introduction 

In November 2008, year 6 pupils from Maybury Primary School interviewed ex-Hull Trawlermen and people from the Hessle Road fishing community, as part of the Campaign! Make an Impact project with Hull Museum Education and the British Library. 

The aim of the interviews was to discover more about life and work at sea for Hull’s Trawlermen, life for those at home and to find out about the 1968 Triple Trawler Disaster- its events and the reactions of the people of Hull. The pupils also wanted to find out about the so-called “Headscarf Campaign”, a women’s campaign for better safety at sea which followed the Triple Trawler Disaster. The questions below were devised and written by the Year 6 Maybury Primary School pupils. 


Filmed Interviews- A Guide to the Questions

Barry Field 1. 
 

· What was life like on Hessle Road at the time of the Triple Trawler Disaster? 
 

When the Triple Trawler Disaster happened, one of the men who died lived five doors away from where we lived and that affected us as well. We all knew somebody. Some people had gone to school with them. Girlfriends were going out with some of the boys, you know, some of the young men who were actually lost on the ships. So it affected everybody at the time.

 

· When did you first go to sea and what was it like?
 

I went on the “Arctic Corsair”. I was only sixteen. I wasn’t actually doing it for a job. I only went on what was called a pleasure trip in September of 1961. And I thought this might be a job I could do, as a radio operator. And I thought well, let’s go and see what it was like. And my uncle was sailing on the “Arctic Corsair” at the time. And he said “come along”. I wasn’t doing anything and after being in a storm on the “Arctic Corsair” for three days, and the ship would be going this way and that way and you’d be in your bunk and the ship would be creaking and you’d think “Is it going to sink?” It made you think about maybe it wasn’t the job I wanted to do. It was really hard. Seeing the men on deck in the middle of the night, they’d be on deck doing the fishing. Gutting the fish, throwing the fish down into the fish hold. It was really hard work. And they didn’t get paid very much, to be quite honest. And you realised they were worth more than they were actually being paid. I actually helped in the fish hold. When the fish came down the chutes all their insides were taken out and you’d pick these cod up and you’d pick the haddock up and you’d lay them on these aluminium shelves and do the ice and the shelving of the fish. And you’d put the lids back on the fish, another lid, and the bodies would still be twitching with the nerves a long time after they were dead. All their insides taken out. It was a really, really hard job. I lived down Hessle Road all my life from being born up to being married. And the conditions down Hessle Road… Everybody was very friendly and everybody talks about how friendly it was but the back to back houses, it wasn’t very nice to live in them at the time. Looking back, when you were sleeping three in a room with no central heating and an outside tap and an outside toilet and no bathroom. I don’t think I’d like to go back to those times now, I don’t think.

Barry Field 2.
 

· Were you scared when your family went to sea? 
 

When my uncle went fishing was I worried? Well not really because a lot of our family went fishing. I had two uncles who were skippers, and one uncle was just the deckhand. The one I went on the “Arctic Corsair” with. I had a cousin who was a skipper. So not really. You didn’t think anything would happen to them. They never thought anything would happen to them. It was a job. They went to sea, they were away for three weeks, three and a half weeks at a time. They’d come back, you’d see them, they’d give you some money or something, they’d bring some fish. And forty eight hours later they were gone back to sea. And you didn’t think about it. You know, you just expected that the next trip, they’d be back again. In the case of my cousin, he was on the “Gaul” and I saw him the trip before it sailed away. And we never saw him again, with the ship sinking. 

 

· How did people react when the Triple Trawler Disaster happened?

At first, they were al l supportive of each other. And you grieved about the people that were lost, and you remembered them. And people went to the funerals. But shortly afterwards, there was a lot of anger within the fishing community about the conditions that the fishermen had to put up with. On one of the ships, I believe, I’m not sure if it wasn’t the “Kingston Peridot”, there wasn’t even a radio operator on there. So nobody knew, they couldn’t keep in touch. So nobody knew what had happened in any case. I think there was a lot of anger, and the Government got involved and people thought about changing the conditions that the fishermen went to sea in, and making sure that the ships were a bit more seaworthy.

 

· Can you remember the “Headscarf Campaign”?
 

I don’t remember... As I say, the campaign to actually get the Government to improve the conditions… Not really. That was out of my hands. I was just somebody who… I had my own life to live. I knew it was going on, and I think everybody began to support it. Particularly the idea of having a mother ship going with the fleet when they went out to sea. So that if any of them ran into trouble, there’d be a ship there to support them. And I think that was one of the main things to come out of it.

 

George Bartle 1. 
(Ex- Trawler Engineer) 

 

· How much fuel did you use on a fishing journey?
 

Well depending what type of engine it was. A diesel engine, you didn’t put as much in as an oil fuel engine. Have you seen the “Arctic Corsair”? On the trips you would burn about, average, four and a half to five ton a day. But on a steam job, those that burnt oil, it would be eight or nine ton a day. And when it was coal, some of them used to burn eighteen ton a day. When you was steaming. But the average for the trip was ten ton a day. So it was a lot of coal to burn, was that. That was years and years ago, though.

 

· What was it like working on a trawler?
 

Well down in the engine room we did the same work when there was a storm and when there wasn’t. It was on the deck where they couldn’t work in a storm in any case. So then they used to catch up with their sleep. Otherwise they were fishing eighteen hours a day.

 

· Were there any times you were scared on the ship?
 

Times I was scared on the ship? How much time have you got?! Quite a few times, but once you got over it you used to forget about it. It never played on your mind otherwise you would just pack up going to sea altogether. You had your bad times, and when that was over with you used to forget about it. It was just a way of life, it was.

 

· How long were you at sea?
How long was I at sea? Forty nine years. Forty five of them was fishing, and four years on the stand-by boats.

 

· What did you wear?
 

Just a boiler suit. Down in the engine room just a boiler suit and your underpants and that would be it, like. But if you come on the deck you’d put dungarees on underneath and muffle yourself up then. Especially winter time.

 

· Did you earn a lot of money?
 

Some people used to say fishermen got a lot of money, but they didn’t. After three weeks they got it all in one lump sum and they used to blow it in two days. So people had the impression that they were… well, they called them millionaires for two days, you know two day millionaires. But they never had… They always went away skint.

George Bartle 2.

 

· How long did it take for you to become an engineer?

 

Well it was a slow process. You first went when you was eighteen down the engine room. Years ago you used to be a fireman, a stoker. Nowadays you go in as a greaser. You used to do three years as a, say a greaser. Then you did two years, you got your second seamen’s ticket. You did two years as second. Then you went for your chief’s ticket and go on and stay as chief engineer. So you could get your chief’s ticket in five years if you had a bit of sense up here, like.
 

· Tell us about Cod Liver Oil.

 

When you used to gut the fish you’d put the cod livers in a basket then you used to put it in a boiler, and boil it off for so long and then let it settle. And all the top used to be cod liver oil, and you’d drain that off. But you couldn’t forget some of that taste, it didn’t taste nothing like you buy in a bottle. They’re supposed to put an additive in it…***
Harry Day 1. 
(Ex-Trawlerman) 

 

· What was the weather like in the Arctic Ocean?
 

The weather? Sometimes terrible. Really terrible. Other times good. It was dangerous when it was bad.

 

· Were you ever frightened on the trawler?
 

Frightened? Oh, yeah. Yeah, it was frightening sometimes. But you just had to be careful.

 

· What was the worst thing about life on the trawlers?
 

The conditions on the boat was cramped. Very cramped… I’m trying to think back thirty years now. Yeah, very cramped and stuffy and seasick.

 

· What do you do in bad weather?
 

What would you do? You’ve got to batten everything down so no water could get in, and then hope for the best. And you would ease the engine in so as to make it ride the seas better.

 

· What was the scariest time on the trawler?
 

The most scary time is when they lay over on their side and you’ve just got to hope they come back. I was in a lock-to and all the coal moved when it actually rolled over to one side. And the fish room then was half full of coal. And it would move when it rolled heavy and unbalance the ship.

 

· How did you start working on the trawlers?
 

Well, I was single then and so when I left school my father took me down to the dock and took me to the firm and said “Here’s a galley boy for you”. And that was my introduction to fishing.

 

· Did the “Headscarf Campaign” make things safer on the trawlers?
 

Oh, yeah. They did a good job between them. And you finished up, you couldn’t go without a radio operator and you was fully manned all the time. Because sometimes you would sail with men short, and it made life very hard.

 

· What was it like fishing in winter?
 

In winter in heavy seas it was terrible. You had to keep one hand for yourself and one to do your job with one hand. That’s all you could do, otherwise when a sea came over the rail it would knock you off your feet. Then your thigh boots would get full and make life very hard. And also very cold as well.

Harry Day 2.
 
· Were there any rules on the trawler?
 

No. You could even go to jail if you didn’t turn up on time, or disobeyed a local command of the skipper’s. You went to jail.

 

· What was life like on the trawlers?

 

Of course, you was among a lot of friends most of the time. You had to get on. I can get on with anybody, I think. But the actual work was very hard. It was nice running off and coming back. But the fishing time in bad weather was very hard. The weather made it hard, and the conditions. And the skipper can make it either hard or soft. Some of them was pure pigs, to be honest. I could name a few.

 

· Tell us about safety on the boats

 

Safety was pretty much zero, to be honest. It depends what you mean by safety. There wasn’t any, there wasn’t any. You had to be your own safety officer. You did what you thought was safe. But you still had tasks to do, what you had to do. There wasn’t no such thing as… Nobody ever said to you “Don’t do that, it’s dangerous”. They just said “You’ve got to do it”. 

Harry Day 3.
 

· Did you see any accidents?
 

I’ve seen two people get killed. I was on a ship that lost one. No, he committed suicide, I think. Cook, he folded his apron up and dived over the side for some reason. I don’t suppose we’ll ever know. Yeah, accidents was quite regular. I saw one bloke get his toes cut off. We had a bit of an aeroplane on the deck. What we’d trawled up and he was climbing over it. His feet were just bare. And he was climbing over it and he slipped, and it took his toes off. Yeah, there was quite a lot of accidents. Hell of a lot, anyway. Normally, you’d have a long way to go to… They didn’t send helicopters to pick you up then. You had to make your own way. And if it was bad weather it took twice as long, didn’t it?

 

· How did the boats freeze up?
 

Well, it depends what speed the ship was doing. Because the spray would freeze if you were doing full speed. But a lot of the time if we was in a blizzard, the snow stuck as well and that would freeze solid and make the ice a lot thicker as well. So we had to keep on top of that. That was just one of the things you had to do. You had to chop it off with axes and of course, as well, you had to make sure it didn’t fall off on your head as well. Because the cables going up to the masthead used to get maybe that thick, so if it fell on your head... Of course, they didn’t dish hard hats out then. You had to keep the hose pipes running on the deck to stop it freezing up. But anywhere there was no running water, the decks used to freeze as well. When ? used to come out they used to go as hard, and that restricted your movements as well, because they used to freeze. But nobody ever said to me “Don’t do that, it’s dangerous”.

James Claughton 1. 
(Chairman of the charitable organisation The Round Table at the time of the Triple Trawler Disaster)

 

· What was The Round Table?
 

It was an organisation of youngish men, under forty. It was a national organisation. And in Hull at that time there were three Round Tables. Humberside, such as I was in, Hull Round Table, and Hull White Round Table. We used to meet every fortnight and have a meal and a speaker. And one of the main objects of the Round Table was to help people in your own particular region as much as you possibly could. The trawler disaster in 1958 was what we would think was a national disaster, therefore we asked the national council, that is the main body of the Round Table, if we could in fact launch a national appeal, and they agreed to do this. And we got this situation where within twenty-four hours we’d contacted every Round Table in the country, and there were 951 or 961 Round Tables. And money started to come in. Now from that moment we were busy for about three weeks I would think, before we completed it. And we visited all the fifty-eight dependants to see and try and assess what their needs were. Well, we raised in total ten and a half thousand pounds. Now what’s that? What would you think that’s worth now? Probably a hundred or two hundred thousand pounds, something of that order. We also cleared debts of about three thousand pounds. Cattles, for example, were quite a large company. But they straight away said “We’ll not be chasing any money at all. We’ll just cancel it”. I think the main reason was because they were in most cases the only wage earner. And you heard the gentleman before me saying that he was on three pounds a week. I think I was on six pounds a week at the time. So this sort of money was extremely valuable to them. But it wasn’t just money we gave them. We gave them coal, we opened accounts at supermarkets. One that we did, was an unborn child, we did a deed of covenant for her. She’d be now about forty-one years old, I suppose. So that’s why we did it. And we had amongst the group, we had about forty members, and there were two or three solicitors. So we knew who to send to to get debts cancelled and that sort of thing.

James Claughton 2.
 

· What was it like coordinating The Round Table relief effort? 
 

Well, it was quite exciting. I had great help from… I co-ordinated the three Round Tables with the help of a chap called Mr Jones, who was the manager of Barclay’s Bank. And it was quite exciting having a coffee with him every morning and counting the money coming in. That was exciting. Two people went in every case and we took note of anything that they were short of. Coal was a major thing. I think the majority of them, people had a ton of coal delivered. Food was another. And don’t forget, if they’d lost a child, a youngster, whoever they lost, it was a distressing time for them. We needed to be as careful as we could. All we could do really was look after their immediate requirements. Make certain that they had no debts. Cash was given in certain case. I have a full list somewhere. I gave something to the Hull Daily Mail once, but I don’t know whether they’ve got it now. Yeah, yes, going to see the people was difficult. Yes. Yeah, it was very difficult, was that and some people handled it better than others. We were only in our twenties and thirties and not one of us would have experienced being on a trawler, as far as I recollect. So yes, we were very aware and surprisingly enough I saw, within probably six months prior to that, I saw the Scarborough lifeboat go down. And it went down with the loss of all the people on board within fifty yards of the harbour. So that was a rough sea that day.

Jim Williams 1. 
(Ex-Skipper)

 

· What were the rules on the trawler?
 

Rules. There weren’t such strict rules, because it just came along with the job. You had to obviously take notice of the mate and the skipper who dished the orders out. But it was a job that came along naturally. You learnt as you went along from your other deck hands and your other crew men.

 

· How much fish did you land?
 

How much did each ship land? Well that could vary a lot, because a lot depended on luck, weather, experience. Your trip could last anywhere from sixteen days to twenty-six. So an average trip would be what we would call two thousand ten stone kits, which would be around about 150 tons. A good trip, like the Arctic Corsair, that’s laid alongside outside there, she could land what we’d call again, three thousand five hundred ten stone kits, which would be 205 tons, full up. That’s a lot of fish.

 

· How did you know where to fish?
 

Well, that was by experience. You learnt as you went along. You did a lot of writing, believe it or not, if you wanted to get to the top. To be a skipper. You had to learn all about the ship and the trawl itself, but also about the fishing grounds. And you learnt them by experience, and from the men that you sailed with, your father, your uncle, your grandfather. Everything was written down in books. To answer your question, “Where? How did you know where?” Because it took into consideration… It was seasonal. A classic example of where do you go. From January to March would be the breeding season. And that would be when all the fish, especially up towards the north of the Arctic Circle, would come from underneath the polar ice cap to lay its eggs on the edge of the continental shelf. And that’s when the fish was big, huge, fat, and plenty of it. That’s one example of learning from your skippers, mates, bosuns that you sailed with.

 

· How long did you work on trawlers?
 

I was twenty-seven years. I first went in my first trawler when I came out the Navy in 1946. And of course, after spending quite a lot of that time in the tropics, in the Navy, it come quite hard to be in the Arctic with all the ice.

Jim Williams 2.
 

· What was your worst fear?
 

The big thing that we used to worry about… Weather wasn’t a big problem. Wind and swell, water coming aboard. It was uncomfortable but we got used to it, we had to do it. The big thing that concerned us was when it was freezing very, very hard. It not only was very uncomfortable for the men, but the ice used to collect on the rigging and make the ship very unsteady. It was quite common for us to be working on deck in temperatures of minus fifteen, sixteen, seventeen degrees Celsius. Minus. So, your water, the spray coming aboard, when it hit anything, and invariably it was metal or steel wires, something like that, it froze practically on contact. Especially with the wind temperature, the chill factor as it’s known now. It freezes up straight away, and then more ice comes and it builds up, and builds up and builds up. Until it has to, well we’d try and keep it down before it gets too dangerous. Knocking it off with a big hammer or a spanner, or something like that.

 

· What was it like working as a Deck-hand?
 

You’re gutting fish, you’re working eighteen hours a day once you start fishing. Eighteen hours on, and six hours off. And that eighteen could be very hard, very cold and very wet. But one of the things that we used to suffer with was poisoned hands, salt water boils round the wrist… You used to still carry on work. Your fingers used to swell. Even in good weather. The sheer amount of work you used to do gutting your fish with the razor sharp knives. Your hands and your wrist movements were on the go all the time, heavy weights. Everybody’s hands used to swell. So if you had any wedding rings on or anything like that, those of use with any sense , I found out the hard way of course, took them off before you actually started fishing. That’s to give you an idea of how hard work it was. Normal conditions, even summertime, your hands used to swell. And then it would take all the three, four, or five days running home for your hands to get back to normal again.

Jim Williams 3.
 

· How did you repair the nets?
 

Repairing the nets? Well, before you repaired them you’d got to know how they were constructed. If you can imagine your mother knitting a pullover for you with arms and side panels, you had to know the dimensions of a trawl. How many mashes there were in this part, how wide it was, how big it was, how many reduction mashes come down to bring it down from the wide mouth. You’ve got to know all about making a net and assembling it before you come to know, before you had to know how to repair it. Once you knew all those dimensions, in your head, not just written down, because when the trawl comes up, slashed all over, you’ve got to run down and guess. And we’re back to that same word again. Experience. You learn it from your ship mates as you go along. And it’s… a lady knitting a jumper or a jersey, she has a knitting pattern in front of her. You’ve got to have your knitting pattern up in your head all the time. There are two hundred mashes across here and it comes down from two hundred to a hundred and eighty, down to hundred, down to sixty. And you have to make that smaller. Once you get down to one spool there’s only fifty mashes across. Things like that. It’s made up into small sections. Let’s see, the top part is made into one, two, three, four, five, six sections. That’s just the mouth of the trawl. What we call the belly’s coming from the mouth down towards the bottom part. That’s where the fish finish up, they’re called the bellies. Bellies and baitings. A baiting gets two mashes together in one on that side. Two mashes together in one on the other, which makes that net two mashes less across. You’d do it on the next row less, until you’d come down to the fifty mashes across for your full cod head. All sections, you must know the dimensions of every section before you could start mending it.

Jim Williams 4.
 

· What was the biggest fish you caught? 
 

(HOLDS ARMS WIDE APART) That’s the biggest cod I’ve had. But big fish. You want to talk about a really big fish? Halibut. It’s many, many years since I’ve seen them. But just to give you an example, eight, ten, and twelve stone. Well, that’s more than what I weigh. I have landed up to twenty-eight stone. As much as two heavy men weigh. But the record, and this could be interesting for you. I don’t know whether you want to write it down or not, but the record for a halibut to be landed in Hull. How much do you reckon? Forty stone? You’re getting on that way. The biggest one was fifty-two stone. That is the weight of four men. It would be that thick. That thick, and measure from that wall up to here. That is a one off, though. Fifty-two stone, that’s three large men, isn’t it?

Joe Bartle 1
· How big were the trawler’s engines? 
Well, various sizes, eight cylinders, six cylinders, ten cylinders, depending on whether it was diesel or steam. Steam always has three cylinders. If there were ever any breakdowns it was my job to repair them, if possible. Before we went in the engines we were on a stoker, we had to be a stoker first before we could go to be an engineer. Sometimes it was good when we were getting plenty of fish wash the deck out and gut them, their fish was our money. Did I fix something on the ship? Changing the cylinders; and then other jobs would be when the white metal in the bottom ends would go and we’d have to either repair that or put another one in. 

· Did you trawler ever sink? 

Oh yes, it was the ship called the Artic Viking. I was coming home from White Sea and we were at Flamborough head, we was only about three hours from home. The ship laid over, twisted and another followed it and she completely turtled. And of course we lost five men that day. It took us only two minutes to turn over, but two minutes are a long time. It took about four hours to sink. And that’s all we could think of that the men inside the ship could still be alive and that was the one time I was scared. If you ask me how I got out the engine I’d say with great difficulty. They give you one side of the rail for your feet, another for your hands and you’re going up a horizontal ladder, and its running along the side of the ship to get to the life raft. That morning I learnt to swim. There was somebody who used me as a stepping stone to get to the life raft and of course when I came to the surface, the life raft soon went away. You can swim if you try, if you don’t panic. Its like climbing out of the water, you just do a dog paddle. I wouldn’t say it’s easy but keep your head and you’ll be alright.

Joe Bartle 2
· How did you start in the fishing industry? 
Well I was brought up with a fishing family; my father was a fisherman, my grandfather was a fisherman, he was lost at sea. My family was all engineers; there were five of us engineers. Grandfather was an engineer, father was an engineer, brother was an engineer and one brother who died, he was an engineer. We were all in the same company as well, Skippy Fresh. 

· What were the boats called? 

There were various boats, the Corsair, the Cavalier, Ian Fleming, C. S. Forester. They were all named after authors

Mary Denness 1. 
 

· What was the “Headscarf Campaign”?

 

You amaze me because this is the 1st time I’ve ever heard it being called the headscarf campaign! And I was part of it! I really don’t know why they called it that, unless it was because headscarves were very fashionable at the time, everyone had very bouffant hairstyles and there was lots and lots of work in the factories in Hull at the time. Because of machinery ladies were expected to cover their hair with nets or scarves- you had work ones and also ones for going out in. That was headscarf era. So that must be where the name has come from- and I think it’s wonderful!

 

· Did you resent Big Lil being in charge? 

 

(Lillian Bilocca, or “Big Lil” was seen as the figure head of the women’s campaign for better safety at sea.)

Oh no, no I was quite happy to be one of her deputation she was a remarkable person. She was a very charismatic person, that means she had lots of personality, she was someone you would admire, like a celebrity these days. She was very plain speaking and she had a strong hully-gully accent- and this was part of her charm she was a wonderful campaign leader no one could better her, certainly couldn’t have done. 

 

· Did you like campaigning?

 

I did like it, but like is a strange word, because remembering 40 years ago, this campaign was brought about by a most shocking tragedy at sea, with 58 trawler men lost. So it was more an urge to do something about it. What I like is now- the idea I did it 40 years ago. Although the trawling industry wasn’t going to last that much longer, what we achieved may have saved someone’s life, a trawlerman’s life- and that is something to be proud of and yes I like that. 

Mary Denness 2. 
 

· How was the fishing industry run?
 

Well it goes back beyond the trawling tragedies of 1968 it’s the way the industry was run. We’re going back a long time ago. It was the middle of the 20th century -coal miners had got better deals and better employment, factory were running in a better way- more safety there were factory acts and everything. The trawler industry- no- it was run as in Nelsons time. Casual labour meant that the trawler owners didn’t have any responsibility towards their employees. It also meant that a trawlerman signed on a ship, he could only be guarantee that employment when he was out in the fishing grounds. If he came home and was ill, there was no sickness benefits for him. There was no commitment at all on the part of the trawler owners to take responsibility for their employees. Because when they signed off the ship, when they came home, they were no longer employed by that firm. So three weeks was a maximum they could be employed and that was really disgusting that that happened in the 20th century. 

 

· Where did you grow up?
 

I was born on Hessle Road in the middle of the fishing industry- my father was a trawlerman I came from a family full of boys. I was the only girl and had nine brothers. I did have a sister, but she died when she was young. Five of my brothers went to see on trawlers and the other four went to sea in the merchant navy. So they were all seamen of some sort. We were very much a sea faring family. 

Mary Denness 3. 
 

· What did Big Lil look like?
 

Well, Lil was quite a large lady, like I am now, but I’m quite as large as Lil was then. But she had a beautiful face very attractive and she had a personality which matched her and she was charismatic- she was bubbly, she was the sort of person you’d like to see on television, like a celebrity now. She drew you to her, because she was that sort of person. So of course the newspapers caught on to the fact that there was this lovely large bubbly lady with a lovely face and the headscarf and of course the newspapers used this. So she got named by the press “Big Lil” and it stuck.

 

· What was Big Lil like? 
 

Big Lil spoke her mind and she didn’t mince her words. She appeared very tough, but deep down was very warm hearted lady and with the other members of the deputation, the three of us she was very sweet to us. The only thing I regret about the whole thing is that she got a very bad press. All she was trying to do was get her opinion across and when you’re trying to tell someone how you feel and you’re caught up with the anger of it all it sometimes comes out as bossy and rude- she wasn’t at all, she was a very, very sweet lady. 

Mary Denness 4. 

 

· Was campaigning difficult?

 

No, it wasn’t difficult because we were very fired up, so to speak. It all started long before the three trawlers went down because of the conditions that prevailed in the trawling industry. We were still an industry with casual employment in the middle of the twentieth century. No other industry had casual employment, except perhaps the odd taxi driver or something like that. But this was really appalling. There was no benefits for the trawlermen when they came home. Nothing. So that anger really caught up over a period of years and when the three trawlers went down that was the last straw. We were not going to put up with any more of those sort of conditions. And that’s when the campaign started. But it had started really, inside everybody emotionally, a lot of years before.

 

·
How did the campaign end?

 

Well, the campaign ended really when the trawling industry ended. And it had fizzled out gradually before then because there was nothing else to fight for. The trawling industry was not investing in new trawlers. It was a dying industry, we all knew that. So when the trawlers were disappearing everything else couldn’t carry on either. And so it fizzled out. 

· What campaigning strategies did you use? 

In one television interview I gave, they said “how do you feel about it now?” I said I feel rather bad about myself and they said “why?” and I said “cos I wish I started longer and shouted louder and carried on afterwards”.

Mary Denness 5 
 

· How did the campaign start?
 

The initial reaction to get the women together was spontaneous, borne out of fear. Because we now had a third trawler that had been lost, in less than three weeks. The anger had started with the “Romaness”. Because the “Romaness” had been missing ten days before the trawler owners even let it out that there was a ship missing. Well that fired us up. Then we lost the “Peridot”. All hands. Then we lost the “Cleveland”. All hands except for one who was found later. Well it was fear and anger all culminating in what was an explosion to get things done in the trawling industry. The men couldn’t do it. The men were at sea. Unlike the coal miners. They couldn’t lead the shift and have hundreds of them massed together in a hall to have something done about the miners. They were drifting backwards and forwards. Going out to sea, coming back again. There were never enough of them together at any time in one place to effectively bring about any sort of campaigning by themselves. They needed the shore based people to do it for them. Well, who were the shore based people? The wives, the mothers, the daughters, the sisters. It was the women who could do it on their behalf. But it was very much for the fishermen. It was not a feminist campaign at all. We did it on behalf of our seafaring menfolk.

Mary Denness 6 
 

· What happened when you went to London?

 

Well, we did an awful lot of television coverage and the newspapers and so on. But the big day was the day we were invited to meet the ministers in the Houses of Parliament to thrash out some of the points that we wanted implemented in the fishing industry. We wanted decasualisation. We wanted a mothership to oversee the fishermen in the trawlers in the very bad weather, with a doctor on board because that’s something they didn’t have. If a trawlerman was taken ill he had to be taken to the nearest port. It could be days away. So aspects of it like that, we wanted to put to the ministers.

 

· Have you met Harry Eddon?

 

No, I’ve never had the honour of meeting Harry Eddon. And we were, actually, at the House of Commons, waiting in an ante-room to go in to meet the Cabinet ministers. The Minister of Agriculture and Fisheries and his group of people, when a newspaper man came running in to the ante-room and said “Guess what? Someone’s been found alive in a life raft with three other men”. Or perhaps two. I think there was three others. Sadly the others were dead but one was found alive. We couldn’t believe it. But thereafter, of course, all the news stories of Harry Eddon came out. But I never had the pleasure of meeting him. Or the honour of meeting him. I wish I had.

Mike Allison 1 

· Did the Skippers drive the crews hard? 

Yes, they had to drive the crews hard. It was a hard job. That’s why, they got the people who was born at Brits a wick. Like me. My father didn’t want me to go fishing. So I went in the navy. They taught me to be an operator and when I come out the navy he couldn’t stop me. So I went fishing.

· What was life like as a radio reporter? 

It was a hard job. The weather wasn’t good. The fish was poor. The skipper had to chase it. To chase it he had to stay up a long, long time; many, many hours. It put him in a ratty mood. The crew was all down below, you was on the bridge with him. You had to take the rattiness and just accept it. Because you knew if he found fish then he‘d be a happy man again; Cos it was filling his bank book. Not mine, my corny paid me a very small wage and I got a little bit of a share; but it was hard work. You got paid on shares. A skipper would be able to tell you more about shares. If you didn’t catch any fish... I got paid cos my corny paid me a weekly wage and then they subcontracted me, they loaned me out to fishing companies; so when that ship come in dock, if your fish didn’t sell and you landed in debt - the crew picked up nothing, I picked up nothing. But because I work for my corny I had a weekly wage. So when the ships docked we all signed off at to we all signed off the ships log. The crew had to go sign for the dole. I never, because I was getting a weekly wage. Naturally, the crew got more shares than me, that’s fair enough, I never disagreed with that because I had wages when I was home. That’s the difference between radio officers, in a log book we’re the only officer, in those days, it’s changed now, it was skipper, mate, chief engineer, second engineer, radio officer. I never classed myself as a radio officer cos I’m off Hessle road, I grew up with the lads I went fishing so I was just one of those.

Mike Allison 2 
· Could you phone home on the trawler? 

You wanted to call your mam at home, you came to me, you asked the captain first and he sent you to me and I could tune radios right up in the artic and I could put a telephone call through for you and you could pick up the telephone and talk to your mam at home and tell her what the weather was like. You didn’t talk about fishing. You could chat away to your mam but we only allowed three minutes, it’s not very long, but it was very expensive. When I wasn’t doing that, I was doing weather forecasts; the captain always wanted weather forecasts so we took weather forecasts from everywhere we could get it. We was always on radios listening, that’s what we was doing all the time.

· How did you find the fish? 

When you go fishing you had to look for fish. even with an experienced captain, the fish goes where it wants. You’ve got to find out where that fish is going, in the old days there was a lot of ships, a lot of trawlers, and we had what you call schedules, we called them scheds. And some of these captains had their own private scheds and we tuned in at a certain time and if a friend of the captain was catching fish, he coded it and he sent his little codes and we decoded it and took it to the captain; so if we was on no fish we could go to his friend, steam the ship to his friend and hopefully catch a lot of fish which he has catching.

Mike Allison 3 

· What do you do if your trawler gets into distress? 

When a ship was in distress, now you’ve seen the titanic on the telly and they always mention the radio operator, he hit the ship at the iceberg and they’ve got to call as much help as you can. Now in them days in wasn’t on a voice it was all on a little Morse key and they sent an S.O.S., all ships in those days was listening on a certain radio frequency, like radio one or radio two, little frequencies and we had one and it was 500, we called it “five ton” and you always left a radio on “five ton”. now all the radio operators were sat in the radio room and if you were sinking you sent S.O.S. three dots, three dashes, three dots. And all these radio operators, as soon as they heard that they got a pencil and paper and you’d give them your position in latitude and longitude, they wrote it down, rushed in to the captain and give it to him, he found out how far away it was and if he could be some help he said to me “tell them we’re coming to help you” and I, the operator, got the Morse key and sent back “we’re coming to you” so they knew there was somebody coming. A lot of people ignored it, like the titanic, people ignored it cos they was in ice themselves, they was in icebergs and they couldn’t get out to go and help the titanic it was a safety call a mayday. If you went on voice, in later years, you said “may day, may day, may day” and people came to you and helped you again. That was a may day.

Mike Allison 5 
· Where did you work and what did you do as a radio operator?

 

I was always on the bridge with the skipper. That was my place. When the livers out the cod the crew used to basket them and the radio operator used to drag it along the deck to the boilers to boil the livers. That was one job. Most of the time was spent in the radio room getting the weather forcasts what we call the skeds, picking up information where we could, listening for ships. One may be talking to another he's on fish. It was my job to take the information, as much as i could, don't say nothing and only give it to the captain in the hope we could go to more fish than we were on. You're working day was as long as he wanted you for. If the skipper worked from six in the morning to two in the afternoon that suited me fine. When he went to bed at two i could have a nap. It didn't happen very often. Because the skipper was up there most of the day.

Mike Allison 6

· How did you start of the trawlers?
Well, next trawler skipper so i started right at the bottom as a dicky learner and worked my way up through bowson to mate till i finished up skipper. Well i went to see from 15 years old when i left school and i didn't know what it was going to be like. We went on the fourth on January, middle of winter and went straight up in to the Artic circle where there was plenty of ice and snow something i was not expecting to be as bad as it was. So i started the very very hard way straight on the deck. Most youngsters who started as sea would go in the Galley and learn what they call their sea legs, stop being sea sick, learn how to stand up on a rolling ship and so fourth. Unfortunately it didn't work out for me, i went straight on the deck right in among the weather and i thought i was going to die.

 

· Did you have a kit bag?
Yes i had a kit bag. I had two. One kit bag was for my ordinary clothes jersey's, trousers, shirt and so fourth. The other kit bag was for all my water proofs. They were very big kit bags because you had to have very long thigh boots and oil skin frocks as they used to be in those days before they turned in to rubber frocks. A frock was a large smock really and gloves and so fourth. So i had to have two kit bags.

 

· How many changes of clothes did you have?
 

At least three changes of clothes from trousers, gurnsey's and under clothes. You had to have three changes because very often you got wet straight away on the deck and you might have to go off and changed in to another set of gear and you might get wet very quicky as well. You had to get them dry as fast as you could so we had to have three changes of warm clothing and at least two changes of your water proofs. You used to wear what they call long jons because everything used to get frozen if you were not wrapped up. Big boots stockings made out of wool and a thick shirt of course. On top of that we would wear a jersey or gurnsey, usally a rolled neck coming right up to here (chin). When you went on deck or course you had to put the water proofs on.

 

 Mike Allison 7

· What were you frightened of at sea?
There were various things that maded me frightened. As a young deckie i was frightened of the weather because of the moutainist sea's rolling down of the ship and i thought every one was going to crash on board but the ships were very good sea ships and did climb over most of those massive. Later on as became in charge i got more worried when we got in to bad conditions, in among the ice fields and so fourth.

 

· How much did you earn?
 

Back in 1950 is when i first went to sea as a deckie learner i earnt £3 and 15 shillings in old money per week and that would go to my mother. But then i had a pounded share of the trip and also a share of the liver money. Depends how much money the fish brough when we landed it. Sometimes, my first trip to sea i remember it well i picked up £12 for three weeks work. I was astounded, I've never seen so much money. Unfortunately it deterioated for there a bit. I ended up earning £2, £2.50, sorry £2 10 shillings it was back then my fourth and fifth trip i owed money because i had to pay for various things like my gear and income tax and so fourth so i finished up owing £9 to the company. Later on when i became a skipper alot more money to be earned.

· Did you enjoy working on the trawler?
 

There was times when i enjoyed it when i as catching an awful lot of fish that was great. When i was not catching alot of fish i was not very happy. And when conditions got bad i was not very happy because i was the one responsible that the ship should stay safe and catch fish.

 

· Who made the rules on the trawler?
 

Well, to tell you the truth back in the 1950's and 60's i made the rules. As the skipper they were rules laid down that i had to follow. Once the ship sailed i pretty much decided what and when.
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· Did you miss your family?
 

I think you missed your family most when you first sailed. You didn't really want to leave them and going in to the unknown was apprehensive and you would think about doing just a couple of days at home before. But once you got in to the trip there were so many other things to concern you and worry you i think the family faded in the background a little bit. Obviously from time to time you did think about them and wish you were back with them.

Terry Thresh 1

· How big was the engine?
 

The boats engine, well it varied from the begining we would probably have an engine of about 800 horse power, steam engine in the early trawlers but my last ship was 4400 sorry 4800 horse power, a big diesel engine but a much bigger ship of course.

 

· How much fuel did you use?
A trip to Iceland i the days of coal about 240 tons. Oil something similar 180 tons or maybe that was diesel or heavy oil for the oil burners in the early days probably about 250 tons again but the engineers would tell you this and certainly the diesel ships, trawlers like the corsair for instance about 180 tons. But usally you had oil left when you came back with that amount.

 

· Why did boys of 16 go to sea?
Why did boys of 16 years of age go to sea at that time? And the reason for that is that we had an eviroment, we lived on Hessle Road. 70 percent of the fishermen who went to see came from Hessle Road and it was a community. So brothers followed other brothers etc. Families, there were familes of whole fishermen one after another who went to sea. And you said about the job. The job where do we start? Its a whole lecture to tell you about the job. Basically you went to sea, you steamed off for up to four or five days up to the fishing grounds, you fished for about 10 to 12 days, and then steame back home. The work to going to and from the fishing grounds was not particularly hard and you got more sleep. But on the grounds the work was very hard. Hawling shooting, gutting the fish, mending the net, cracking ice off the rigging and all the things that went with trawlers in those areas.

Terry Thresh 2

 

· Where you ever frightened?
 

Yes, like Bob many times. Its been apprehensive more then scared. There was on particular time when i was quite scared because the ship was nearly lost and would have been lost but for a very fortunate occurrence that we were on our way in to the Tyne, North Shields for fuel on our way back coming for sea and the ship was slightly unstable because she did not have much fuel on board and not much fish. There was a strong south east gale in the North Sea. As we were going in to the Tyne the ship laid over, took heavy water almost on its side and then righted itself and then went over again and i thought she was going to capsize but at that point we were going through the harbour entrance, completley out of control, been swept in as it were and as we got through in to the calm water she slowly righted herself and stayed with a big list. And at that particular point, yes, i must have bee scared becuase for a intense purposes had we not got in to the harbour at that point the ship wuld have capsized just as the Artic Viking did sometime just before or just after.

 

· How many fish did you catch?
Well, if i could tell you in 1967 my ship caught 138,000 kit of fish. Thats 10 stone kits of fish. But that was for the year. That was significant and the reason i remember that figure is i looked it up last night and it because i won the challenge shield for that year, and that was the amount of fish landed from my ship. But that was the top ship out the port. So i suppose anywhere from 115,000 kits t 138,000 to 140,000 kits was the range of the trawlers. An annual catch.
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· Did anybody else in your family go to sea?
 

Yes there were. My older brother did. They were the reason i went to sea actually. Because he went to sea when he was 16 and i was two years later and by that time things were very poor on Hessle Road. People did not have a lot of money and contray to what some people say money in the fishing industry was not bad. It was probably at the time twice the amount a shore worker earned at the time so it was OK and to see him with this amount of money and cigerattes to burn almost i thought i really to be a part of this, i thought, i want to be a part of this cash and that's the reason i went to sea. I hated it i might tell you. Hated it completely for a whole year. I was sea sick. I hated the living standards. I hated everything about it really. But i was too proud to leave. And of course after th year i was hooked and became very exciting and became a very good opportunity to earn money and have a better lifestyle. Two more brothers went ot sea after me. So there were four of us. I think its significant that all four of us were skippers at the same time in the port of Hull at the same time

Terry Thresh 4

 

· How did you proccess the fish?
 

In the early days of course they were gutted on board, washed and put into ice on board the ship. Don'y know whether you have been around the Artic Coursair but that's what happended in the early days when i went to sea. But subsiquent to that we got freezer trawlers to were we used to actually freeze the fish, gutted it just the same and froze it in blocks of fish, packed togther in 120lb blocks of frozen fish. And later than that we used to fillet the fish at sea so the fish so the fish were filletted after being gutted and headed and those fillets were pakced in to polythene and those shatter packs as they were called then because when you banged the on the gorund the polythene came apart and all the fillets came out and they go straight to the fish shop even to this day. That's how the fish goes and its frozen at sea. By enlarge they are not many fish shops in the whole of the country i might add, were you can't go to and get good fish and chips because its frozen at sea and very fresh.

The information below corresponds to the filmed interviews available to watch on the My Learning “Learning Journey” Local Heroes: Hull’s Trawlermen.  (� HYPERLINK "http://www.mylearning.org" ��www.mylearning.org�) 





Click on the relevant film in the “Video Gallery” to hear the responses to these questions. 
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